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225 No• Hope St•, 
los Angeles 12, Calif, 
May 21, 1948

KR. WAYNE M. COLLINS 
Mills Tower, 220 Bush Street 
San Francisco 4, California

Dear S lr :  ... JU DG M ENT
My wii%j§ [Hirok^t§feo) and I are asking you 

to include uB̂  'in the mass suit to have our U. S. 
citizenship restored. We are enclosing a cheefeT^UK^ 
of $50. Vie hope we shall be able to pay you more * 
very soon.

Sincerely yours,

ACTiVE LIST



TO MR. WAYHE M. COLIIHS : ACTIVE LIST

i

The undersigned Kiyoshi Yano wishes
to he included in the mass suit to restore my United States 
citizenship.

Name Kiyoshi Yano_____________

Present address 225 No. Hope St., Los Angeles 12, Calif

Place of citizenship renouncement Tule Lake Center

Note: State whether or not received a letter of 
approval on citizenship renunciation from the At­
torney General.

"Notice of Approval" Received, dated March 22, 1945

Bate of hirth Jul; 6 , 1910
Month day year

Place of birth Honolulu, Hawaii
Township state



CROSS-REFERENCE

_______July $, 1955

FILE OF : YANCL Kivoshi

CLASSIFICATION : U.S. Active_________

REFER TO FILE: YANO. Hiroko

Wife

CLASSIFICATI ON : Judgment List (May 195>2)



1134 So* Mariposa Ave. 
Los Angeles 6 , Calif. 
June 28,. 1954

Attorney Wayne M* Collins 
Mills Tower, 220 Bush Street 
San Francisco 4, Calif.

Dear Sir:

According to your MEMORANDUM? I am included in Class XIX 
which I understand is designated for those who had not 
been educated in Japan. But as it is shown in my affi­
davit, I wag partly educated in Japan as well as in this 
country. It might be a mistake on the part of the Jus­
tice Department. In camp we had to fill out forms, 
which had items about personal history, and I presume 
that the records about my education in Japan are in 
the W.R.A. files.

About the organization affiliation, I am not certain 
whether MKibei Seinen Kai" means a particular or­
ganization or Kibei organizations in general; and 
that the Kibei-Bu, to which I belonged, should be 
regarded as a Kibei Seinen Kai or not. However, I 
thought I should write it in any way; because I remem- 
bdr that soon after we were evacuated to Manzanar,
I was interviewed with two or three others by an 
F.B.I. agent concerning the Kibei-Bu.

I thought I should explain above two points for 
your reference.

Sincerely yours,

Kivbshi Y ano/



CO M M ITTEE CO M M ITTEE

T. AKUNE 
A. HAYASHIDA 
Y. HONDA
K. IKEDA 
Y. KAKU
L. KATAOKA
J .  K1MURA 
Y. KIYOHIRO 
T. KONO
T. KOSUGI
M. MAT8UMOTO
K. MATSUOKA 
K. M ORISH1GE 
T. NAKAMURA 
I. NAMEKAWA 
R. NARIMAT8U 
T . OBATAKE 
H. OKITA

TULE LAKE DEFENSE COMMITTEE  
Room 215, 124 South San Pedro Street 

Los Angeles 12, California 
Michigan 4728

June 8 , 1955

M . SASAKI 
Y. SHIBATA 
I. SHIM IZU 
R. SH IR A ISH I 
T . SH O N O  
K .TA K A H A SH I 
M. YEGO 
H. TAKETAYA 
H. TAKEUCHI 
M. TOYOTA
G. TSUETAKE
H. UCHIDA
B. WATANABE 
M. YAMAICHI 
T. YAMAMOTO 
M. UEDA 
K . UYENO

Mr. Wayne M. Collins 
1701 Mills Tower 
220 Bush Street 
San Francisco 4, Calif.

Re: Kiyoshi Yano
Dear Wayne:

Enclosed please find the Questionnaire and roughfc 
draft for Mr. Yano. Mr. Yano works for the Rafu Shimpo, 
and he has asked me to have you check his rough draft.

If you feel that the affidavit needs correction,
I shall thank you to note it on his affidavit and return 
it to him.



1134 So* Mariposa Ave 
Los Angeles, 6 , Calif 
June 7| 1955

Attorney Wayne M* Collins 
Mills tower, 220 Bush Street 
San Francisco, 4, Calif.

Dear Sir:

I would like to know if you think I should 
answer 8 (B) of the affidavit.

In my drafts X did not modify much of my 
statements in 7(A), but I feel that I should 
omit the photographed copy of "To whom this 
may concern," written for me by Lieut. Col. 
John J. Mudgett. Col. Mudgett passed away 
recently.

Sincerely yours



August 2 0, 19 5 6

Mr. Kiyoshi Yano
1134 S. Mariposa Avenue
Los Angeles o, California

Dear Mr. Yano:

J  returning herewith the original and copy of the 
affidavit which X have prepared for you from your answers 
to my questionnaire. X would thank you to read the answers 
therein and if you find them to be true, you should take them 
to a notary public and there sign the original and swear to 
it. Ihe notary public should stamp in the copy for you. 
Ihereupon you should returp the original to me promptly for 
processing to the Justice department. You should keep the 
copy in your possession for future reference.

If you should make any additions or corrections in 
the affidavit, please inform me of the changes in a letter 
enclosing the^affidavit and those changes will be made in 
the other copies sent to the Justice Department.

Very truly yours,

Enes.



J

A D D R E S S  R E PL Y  TO 
4 “ T H E  ATTORNEY G EN ERA L'*

AN D  R E F E R  TO
^  IN IT IA L S  AND N U M BER UNITED STATES
QCDiOC DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

---------------------------------  WASHINGTON 25, D. C. • J f

I l i 6 - 5 U -  3 3 3 5

93-1-1320

Lloyd H. Burke, Esquire 
United States Attorney 
4̂-22 Post Office Building 
Seventh and Mission Streets 
San Francisco 1, California

■̂e: Klyoshi Xj830©..’Your ~ReiJe7e®?e: Abo et al v. Brownell et al.
Furuya et al v. Brownell et al. (Consolidated 
actions - Civil Nos. 2529*4- 8c 25295)* Renunciation 
of Citizenship, Former Title 8 U.S.C. 80l(i).

Dear Mr. Burke:

This is in response to your letter of October 5# 1 
enclosing an affidavit for a determination as to whether the case 
of the above named renunciant may be considered as coming within 
the coverage of the ruling of the Court.of Appeals in the case of 
Ache3on v. Murakami, 1 7 6 F.2d, 953? in accordance with a letter 
from this Department dated September 21, 1953? .to Mr. Wayne M. 
Collins.

We have examined the affidavit, together with pertinent 
Governmental files and are of the opinion that the case of subject 
affiant may be considered as coming within the ruling of the Court 
of Appeals in the Murakami case. Unless you disagree, please enter 
into the arrangements necessary to dispose of the case in accordance 
with the procedure outlined in the above-mentioned letter of 
September 21, 1953? as modified by this Department's letter to you 
dated June 9? 1955* We shall appreciate your forwarding to this 
office a copy of the stipulation and judgment when record entry of 
the same has been accomplished.

The original and one copy of the subject's affidavit are 
returned to you herewith.

Yours very truly,

GEORGS GQGEBMM DOUB 
Assistant Attorney General 

Civil Division

By:
Enoch E. Ellison 

Chief, Japanese Claims Section



DATA SHEET

Name: YANO, Kiyoshi (newspaperman)

Judgment: 2^ / 5  7 Aff. U.S.
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order, etc.:
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Wife: Hiroko Yano ulc,'
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AFFIDAVIT
IN ST R U C T IO N S FOR T H E  PR EPA R A TIO N  O F A F F ID A V IT

This affidavit should be specifically addressed to the circumstances o f your particular case and should not consist o f generalities. W hen  
you are uncertain as to matters related in your affidavit write "uncertain”. W here you claim that any action was taken by you as the result of 
fear, you should state in each instance, with the greatest possible particularity, what was feared and why. I f  it is claimed that the fears were 
caused by threats from individuals or groups o f individuals, the nature o f the threats, the names o f the individuals making them, if  known, 
and the time, place and occasion for the m aking o f the threats should be given.

I f  more space is needed for answers to particular questions, separate sheets o f plain white paper should be used. Each separate sheet so 
used should be plainly marked with the number o f the question being answered and your name.

1. Nam e

Yano, Kiyoshi
Date o f Birth

July 6 , 1910
2. I f  born prior to December 1, 1924 (A ) H ave you ever renounced Japanese 

nationality?
No

W hen W here

3. I f  born since December 1, 1924 (A ) W as your name ever registered with a Japanese Consulate for the purpose o f reserving your Japanese 
nationality?

If so, did you thereafter renounce your Japanese 
nationality?

W hen Where

4. State periods o f visits to Japan and purpose of each visit:

Date

From 1917 T o 1930
Purpose

On account of mother’s beriberi, whole family 
went to Japan9— When she recovered, my parents

to Hawaii,
Aug., 1932 Dec., 1932 For a hernia p-peratlon and a visit.

i-------------
School Period o f Attendance

1................... .....................
Grammar Schooli From 1 9 1 7 T o 1 9 2 3

Middle School 1 9 2 3 1 9 3 0

I................................................. ............................................... —
(I was out of seb 
because ofillne

oo1  for two years 
asj----------------

Specify subjects studied (attach additional sheet if  necessary).
i Required middle shhool subjects were: English language, Japanese literature 
\ Ancient Chinese classics, algebra, geometry, solid geometry, trigonometry, 
Vphysics, chemistry, botany, zoology, history(Japanese, oriental, and occi­
dental), geography(Japan and the world), ethics, physical education, fenc­
ing7, military science, art, and handwriting. _____ _____________

6. H ave you ever made application for repatriation to Japan?.;.ii.O....J!JJ ^  so, give date................................................................... , and your reasons for so
applying:

^  /
I do not for repair ia£Acrff

7. (A ) H ave you ever expressly indicated that you would not swear unqualified 
allegiance to the U nited States? Yes

H ave you ever declined to answer when asked whether you 
would swear unqualified allegiance?

No
Or have you ever given a qualified answer to such question asked at W ar Relocation C e n t e r s ? .  I f  so, give your reasons:
Sometime in the summejL of 1943, some of us weje called in individually by 
the Directed Mr. B^lpn Merritt-r-NOf Manzajiaf' ^nter^to'explain a£out our 
answers t-o Cmes^-fon N®. 28*^Be sides Mr<Mermtt^xtffiere was a/-s^cret4ry and 
I believe ths^^ssista|rbx£firector/wfusfalso ppjê erfit. My an^wars were(£eeord- 
ed by the secretary. At the hearing I told Mr. Merritt ifn effect that I 
hao no grudges against America; that all my(continued on the attached sheets)
(B) I f  your answer to any o f the questions in (A ) is affirmative, then did you ever subsequently change your m ind and^xpress your willingness 

J ^ t o  swear an unqualified allegiance or would you have been willing to do so if  an opportunity had been afforded you?.............5 .................I f  so, state

r
when you changed your m ind and your reasons therefor:

I changed_ ___ w ■  my mind in April or May, 1945, after reading in the paper about
the bombing of Tachiarai Air Base in Kyushu. My parents lived very close 
to the air base and I feared that they might be among the victims and I 
thought it might be useless for me to go there. Also, my wife’s pregnancy 
became apparent and I felt that the baby should grow up in the United States.



~ Page 2

(C) D id  you ever indicate that you would not swear unqualified allegiance to the United States either expressly or by refusal to answer, or a quali­
fied answer, knowing that by so doing you would be sent to the W RA Segregation Center at Tule Lake?__ If  so, give reasons:

8. (A )

WERE Y O U  EVER A T  A N Y  TIM E A  MEMBER O F A N Y  OF T H E  FOLLO W ING  O R G A N IZ A T IO N S :

Answer
Period of 

MembershipYes N o

Black D ragon Society (Kokuryu Kai) X
Central Japanese Association (Beikoku Chuo N ipp onjin  Kai) X
Central Japanese Association o f Southern California X
D ai N ip p on  Butoku Kai (M ilitary Virtue Society o f Japan or Military A rt Society o f Japan) (H okubei Kai) X
Heimuska Kai, also known as Hokubei H eieki Gimusha Kai Zaibei N ihonjin , Heiyaku Gimusha Kai, and X
Zaibei Heim usha Kai (Japanese residing in  Am erican M ilitary Conscripts Assoc.) Heim usha Kai Y
H inode Kai (Im perial Japanese Reservists) X
H inom aru Kai (Rising Sun Flag Society— a Group o f Japanese W ar Veterans) X
Hokubei Z aigo Shoko D an (N orth  Am erican Reserve Officers Association) X
Japanese Association o f America (Zaibei N ihon jin  Kai) X
Japanese Overseas Central Society (Kaigai D obo Chuo Kai) X
Japanese Overseas Convention, Tokyo, Japan, 1940 X
Japanese Protective Association (Recruiting O rganization) X
Jikyoku Iin Kai (Current Affairs Association) 4- X •
Kibei Seinen Kai (Association o f U . S. Citizens o f Japanese Ancestry who have returned to America after

studying in  Japan) ' j

N anka Teikoku Gunyudan (Im perial Military Friends Group or Southern California W ar Veterans)
Nichibei K ogyo Kaisha (T he Great Fujii Theatre) X
Northwest Japanese Association X
Sakura Kai (Patriotic Society or Cherry Association— composed o f Veterans o f Russo-Japanese W ar) 

(Cherry Blossom Society)
X

Shinto Temples X
Sokoku Kai (Fatherland Society) X
Suiko Sha (Reserve Officers Association Los Angeles) X
H okoku Seinen-Dan X
H okoku Joshi Seinen-Dan r
Sokoku Kenkyu Seinen-Dan x:
Sokuji Kikoku H oshi-D an X
(B) Give reasons for becom ing a member:

Kibei-Bu (Kibei Section) of the Los Angeles Chapter of the
ember of the 
Japanese

t to fin$
some social associations.

(C) State nature o f your activity and offices you held:

OneJ&ftfie’*S served as^c6ri%spondi^g^^cret^^ ’an^^n^Eeryls a^^^stian|^; 
t5f€asur •'  ̂ y^

(D ) I f  you voluntarily discontinued membership in  any o f the aforem entioned organizations, give approximate date and reasons for so doing:
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(E) I f  you claim that your membership in any o f the aforem entioned organizations, your activities therein, or your acceptance o f an office was 
due to misunderstanding of the purpose or nature of the organization, explain fully:

I-i o r g a n i z a t i o n j

“ ' I i i

(F ) I f  you at any time wished to discontinue membership, activity, or office and were prevented from  so doing, explain fully:

9. (A ) W hen did you decide to  apply for forms upon which to renounce your United States citizenship? 
Give reasons for so doing:

I believe it was in Nov. or Deo. in 19M,

Reasons: The xs 
.n the fall of 1  
;he most Ho^ni- 

At wa

:oku Seinen-Dajv^nd the Ijoshi-Dan became very demgfihBtrative 
>44. My wifr^and I lived in Block 83, which was
ih and Seiiien-Dan^xfon^ciius and active"'WkJtt1: fin the whole

|amp, t 
¡long
te Dan Member 
were married 
ift T/le 
\botJi had 
■ so/ attribu 

whiViji we/e

ciyizenship. 
my'own indivf

not eei&f to mové to 
_ganizai/ons np 
I had jtfany yea£ 

ne, 194Í by Re/, 
after/our wedjáind; 

Englisñ to tha/nonÍE 
_s were sfL 1 mot 1Á linje w _ „ 
oundedjíf Buddhist priests.

/■i /  /  IDap and pne Seinen-Dan urged
xplained in &(A),\I 
reason. But I thoug

Block pz tftai time. /I/dld not1 
feir/clipped//sho^t as 

America^ y^ucayion; my/wife and 
ithodiát m^nij/fcer*/whri/í 

tg bilingüista, Ay wife/and; 
jeaking adults* ^Manza/ar. 

íe Sokoku-K^nkjruJ^áll te^cii^gs,

¡idents to remo e American 
s expecting to(j$i/to Japan for 
(continued on the attached sheet)

(B) I f  reasons given in answer to  preceding question differ from reasons given to officer who held renunciation hearing, give your explanation
for difference:]: bold the hearing officer that_J was a du&l^o Jtizen and wanted 

to renoujxie one. I den:Ui$_^that there^
1 vicTrol c ofI had Jso have/ a "reas

wars anfy coers>©li upfen me^^-^thougi t
- j - -- -jj*-----m —  loj&C&kl reason tp^fiave irominclat ion ajiprqy>

ed Qjia I kney that^ir I sta^ed^feiie real rafesgnr^my renunciation would-»6t 
41so I was afWid that it misfit be known to the Dan members.be ̂ approved.

(C) I f  you claim that your renunciation was caused by fear, you should explain fully why such fear extended from the time o f the application for 
renunciation papers until the date o f  actual renunciation:

Mr. Riichi Tokunaga, wjj*rvlived in the next^om to ours, expressed his dis­
approval Mf the Hokoktf Seinen-Dan to hisi/friendls. One night in^Oct. , 4 9 4 4  
after a Religious meeting, a man who he/believep was a Hoshir^n/meiptfer 
hrew a piece of 2/4 lumber at him and/his friend Mr. Arataga, whoAivkd in 
e next building/to ours(! Fortunate/Ly they weie hurt oniy superficially, 
p or three wej/cs JLater rloshi Tera^&wa, a youtd whosey/'ather wfesr critical 

ofVDan k o tiv itr e s / wate slashed in/che race by a baiTm^nber. Ifj&ccurred in 
Blqck *1 8, whi/h /as n̂ pet i;o our^frock.V Incident^QXi®e these a M  Hitomi mur-

inqed u^yxhat tqere was ¿0 protection /against such 
ut\c&ve/was in the end/buildiftg of thelBlock and a

n-tean pro- 
assed. They 
clearing near

^others re: 
"the/ camp

d^r\ ca^e a 
violence i
/roadXpkssed under our window. /Every Sudday t/ere was 
'Cession, ¿and ye stayed an the/room while\ the/tlemonstra^ 
also neJ4  bu/le blowing Vre-d&wn ceremon^ji/d drills i 
our bir^lding. As the DaS\^privities grew stronger, we fej/t the tension 
against^tfee "out group" became stronger. We felt it in latrine, \ess hall, 
laundry room and other places wherever we met Dan people.
D ) I f  the fear did not extend from the date o f application to the date o f  approval by the Attorney General, you should state whether you made 

effort to withdraw your application, and if  not, explain fully:

er the active Hokoku Seinen-Dam members and Hoshi-Dan leaders were re­
moved to internment camps intthe spring of 1945, general tension in Tule 
Lake relaxed and we had little fear. But I took no action to ask the 
Attorney General to withdraw his approval of my renunciation. I thou^it 
it was futile to ask for such withdrawal.

j after approval, you requested the Attorney General to withdraw his approval o f  your renunciation or to cancel your renunciation, give the 
,53$ons for the delay in m aking such request:
believe I applied in Sept., 1945 to Mr. Edward J. Ennis, Alien Control 

Board, Department of Justice, for a hearing on the matter of my renunciation 
of citizenship. Reason for such delay in applying was that my wife was ex­
acting a baby in Sept, of that year and we were afraid to leave the centercame, as wa had no funds. _________________
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are any other facw\which influenced your action in renouncing your U nited States citizenship, state fully below or on a separate sheet 
necessary.

Le actions I took in camp were chain reactions to the evacuation so to 
speak. "No* answer to Question No. 28 led me to Tule Lake Center, where 
due to the fear I renounced my citizenship. As I had no intention of refus­
ing to swear unqualified allegiance to the United States before the evacua­
tion, so I did not have any intention of renouncing my United States citizen­
ship until the conditions in Tule Lake became hard for me not to renounce.
I am attaching a phibographed copy of a letter of introduction given to me 
by Dr. Genevieve W. Carter, Superintendent of Education in Manzanar. When 
I arrived at Tule Lake, the Adult English classes were closed, and I did 
not take this letter to Mr. Harkness, to whom it was addressed. Dr. Carter 
is now the Director of Research of the Welfare Council in Los Angeles Region. 
I recently contacted end asked Dr. Carter and was gityen permission to use 
this letter in connection with this affidavit. I am sure that if our evacua­
tion did not take place, I would have followed a course similar to those of 
other loyal Americans and I would not have renounced my American citizenship.
10. (A ) I f  you now are in Japan, give your reasons for having returned to Japan.

(B) I f  you are in Japan, have you since you returned to Japan taken any action to resume or acquire Japanese citizenship?. 

I f  you have, state nature o f action taken and reasons therefor.
Answer Yes or N o

(A ) I f  you have served or are serving in the military or naval forces o f the U nited States fill in the following:

I enlisted (or was drafted) on ...... ..........................................................in the......., ........... ................................. ..............; my Serial number is..................................;
State the date State the Branch of Service •

I still am in such service..................................................... ; I  was released from active duty on.......................................... .........................and received my Discharge
Answer Yes or N o

on."........................................................................... .

(B) I f  at any time while in a war relocation center or since then you volunteered for military or naval service but your offer o f service was rejected 
state the time when and the place where you volunteered.

(C) State why your offer o f  such service was rejected, if  the reason was made known to you.

(D ) I f  you were rejected for military or naval service by your Local D raft Board since your release from a war relocation center state the reason 
for the rejection if  known to you.

12. I f  any member o f your fam ily has served or is serving in the military or naval forces o f the United States state the relationship o f such person 
to you, the name o f such person, the branch o f service and serial number o f such person: i

Brother Tsutomu Yano
Relationship Name

Army 39015487
Branch of Service Serial N um ber

i.l ......v.,...
(S ig n a tu re ^  fu ll of applicant)

Subscribed and sworn to before me this....™...—£3 .t?.lHay of ......... .............._______19. § 7

c^ -* }
7 JJjtfLTic In and for the County of 

Lob Angeles* State of California.
This affidavit may be executed before any person a u t h , Q S i f t g d M f i l s .
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7. m m  , —  g ; v •
# M r ^ m g K

Sometime in the summer of 3.943, some of us were called

in individually by the Director, Mr. Ralph Merritt, of Manza­

nar Center, to explain about our answers to Questions No* 37 

and No. 38. My answers were recorded by the secretary.

At the hearing I told Mr. Merritt in effect that I had 

no grudges against America; and that I liked this country. I 

told him that one of my younger brothers was in the United 

States Army apd another was relocated and had no intention 

of going to Japan; and since I was the eldest son of the fam­

ily, I though t A  had t a, go to Japan to see my aging parents,
AlrPŸ'fCA' -, ^

; vAt xhat time \  feared that since the Questions were asked
only to the people of Japanese ancestry, the record might 

somehow be known by ijhe authority in Japan. Knowing the severe 

attitude of the ruleri of Japan then, and seeing the compact 

community life in Manzahar, I felt that if I were to go to 

Japan I should be careful not to leave a record on account o/ 

which I might be regarded as an enemy^of Japan^ I had and still

have another younger brother^in Japan, but at that time^I did
■■ ■■ ->‘'£': u v 'fabnot think he, would survive the war. A ** <

i would have been glad to perform the duties expectexpected ofglad to per

me as a citizen by the United States Government, irrespective 

of my family ties, if I had not been required to answer those 

questions prepared only for the citizens of Japanese ancestry.

In fact, that was my very attitude before the evacuation. ?o 

the Draft Board and at the Induption Center in Los Angeles, 

where I had my physical examinations, I had not refused to swear

Y+C
/

unqualified allegiance to the United States
u y wñ S H 5mi

/*

m



9. (A)

I believe I applied for the forms in Nov. or Deo., 1944.
\

Before l\decided to renounce I had the following experiences in 
Tule Lake 6e n t e /4 %

a. In Jhne, 1944, "Baron" Kano, who lived in Block 4 ,

refused to come to my church wedding because it was off ic’ated ■ V  A
by a Christian minister, Rev. Oml. Shigeo Kawasaki told me 

later that Mr. Kano remarked that a true Japanese would not 

have a Christian wedding. I was the "principal* of the Jap­

anese school in Ward I and Mr. Kano and Shigeo Kawasaki were 
teachers in the same school*

b. Mr. Sanaye Ikeda, Block 17 manager and the Ward I 

education committee chairman told me in Sept, or Oct., 1944 

that the Ward I Sokoku Kenkyukai group tried to take over the 

Ward I Japanese school, because as the principal I did. not

Pedro). He w s  friendly to me in Manzanar Center, but changed

his attitude toward me in Tula Lake and blamed me for not help­

ing the Dan cause with my knowledge of the Japanese and English

school, advised me to be careful not to offend the Dan people:

by some teachers of Ward VIII school. He said the "speak Jap-

because^he said I was called a Shimbei-Ha(friend of America),



approve of my talking in English even to my wife^r"

e. Mr. Hj.ichi Tokunaga was in my Adult English Glass 

(Americanization Class) in Manzanar Center. He and his family 

were our next door neighbors in Block 83 in Tule Lake. He 

used to express his disapproval of the Hokoku Seinen-Dan to 

his friends. One flight in Oct. 1944, afman who he believed 

to be a Hoshi-Dan member threw pieces of 2x4 lumber at him

and his friend Mr. Aràtaka as they were coming home from a

religious meeting. Although Mr. Tokunaga was

 ̂ . Mrs. Tokunaga wprried about her husbagdis safety
. ; v 4

after that incident and often cried in their q u a r t e r s ^  
could hear her hysterical cries, which made my wife feel un­
easy

f . Two or three weeks after^Mr. Tokunaga"js incident,

Toshi Teragawa, whose father criticized the Dan activities, 

was slashed in the face by a Dan mekber in Block 78, which 

was next to our Block. Incidents like these and the Hitomi 

murder case and others reminded us thaix there was no protection 

against violence in the camp. Seinen-Dap's Sunday demonstration, 

bugle blowing pre-dawn rituals and drills were held in the ex­

ercise ground near our building and they became noisier and 

noisier. I had seen the Manzanar incident of Dec. 6 , 1942 and 

knew how dangerous it was to be called ninu" or a name with simi­
lar meaning.

g. In the fall of 1944 the Hoshi-Dan and the Seinen-Dan 

strongly urged the residents to renounce American citizenship.

I did not join either of the Dans, nor did I have my, hair clip­

ped short as the Dan members did. But I was afraid of being



M

¿ , '• * ¿ ¿ £ 2  fJ Z Z Z & tu  T j L  L S
residents o f o u r B l o c k  and the„Ward#I felt 

that the W l v  way to avoid becoming the target of an attack by 

the Dan members was to renounce as the Dan urged* It was a fear 

of violence \by unknown Dan members and not of any particular 

i n d i v i d u a l s \

h. Block 83 was one of the most Hoshi-Dan and Seinen-Dan

concious blocks ij| the whole camp, and it was not easy to move

to another block at that time* There were Messrs* Okinaka,

Hisamune, Teshiba ant others who very active, and

Mr* Toshiba wps going^back to the village only three miles from

my par^jitjÿ^iome in Japan* At that time I thought there was

a pofloFSillfry of deportation, and I was afraid that my wife and

I might be on the same ship with the Dan members on the way to
\ /fastenJapan* I feared unless we renounced, we assist be harmed physi­

cally and otherwise on the béat.



I told the hearing officer that I was a dual citizen 

and wanted to renounce one*\l denied that there was any 

coer&jron upon me. I thought thalKif I told the officer—  

it was woman officer— the real reasonjxmy renunoiation would 

be refused and that the Dan members would Know about it#
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9. (C ) \

The Assistant manager of our Block (83), Shimoda-san, 

belonged to the Wakayama gang* It was ¡1 common knowledge 

that he checked the mail at the Block Office and knew who 

took action to renounce and who did not* At the mess hall, 

in latrine, and in the laundry room, we were^asked by the * 
Block people if we were going to renounce • 

the Dan member wer© watching^if I really renounced¿¿fryi'C

(2<C /to*®,



an application

for repatriatiorK^o Japan, I believe, however, that when I 

wrote to the Justice impart men t for -enunciation forms that 

rx

I explained that I was going to^apan.

rm«skkiv&G>

!/



AFFIDAVIT
IN ST R U C T IO N S FOR T H E  PR E PA R A T IO N  O F A F F ID A V IT

T his affidavit should be specifically addressed to the circumstances o f your particular case and should not consist o f generalities. W hen  
you are uncertain as to matters related in  your affidavit write ''uncertain”. W here you claim that any action was taken by you as the result of 
fear, you should state in  each instance, with the greatest possible particularity, what was feared and why. I f  it is claimed^ that the fears were 
caused by threats from individuals or groups of individuals, the nature o f the threats, the names o f the individuals m aking them, if  known, 
and the time, place and occasion for the m aking o f the threats should be given.

I f  more space is needed for answers to particular questions, separate sheets o f  plain white paper should be used. Each separate sheet so 
used should be plainly marked with the number o f the question being answered and your name.

1. Nam e D ate o f Birth
w idMfcÿ1 i

2. I f  born prior to December 1, 1924

3. I f  born since December 1, 1924

(A ) H ave you ever renounced Japanese 
nationality?

W hen W here

(A ) W as your name ever registered with a Japanese Consulate for the purpose o f reserving your Japanese 
nationality?

I f  so, did you thereafter 
nationality?

renounce your Japanese W hen W here

4. State periods o f visits to Japan and purpose o f each visit:

Date Purpose

From |  MA T o f t ü i i 1 I  v
Jk '$4* W JL. w . ' H  i w MWmkw wfc Wmê i  g  P # * -  v *  X j ' • " ^ ^ - ± J- * . i ________

W iN ftv v c i W I l f b tK ft r € < r i? i r « r * "V # “4V
I l  â i  1-ÎI w m I S  w $  gi i S |  1 f l a m s «

£$Êk0̂ m JL 'W j§ M- ■ b.. £ .¿> r,J “
■3»3»#. à

5. Give details concerning any formal education in Japan:

School Period o f Attendance

From i *i i J

î->0H

Jk 1
---- 3-----»--- L— .—-------- --- ».—

* * * . JL l *■ T W I  «•
i i . i S  j

..Specify subjects studied, ( attach additional sheet if  necessary). $ W m t « $ «  1 H «
i  ."-K- -Ï as, . §• hi.C *  : # • s e l l 4  9

■ - % ÿ *■•-/ f i t i f t f c f e i r F 1 SrtN ifil  ̂ C3I X ® s êÜm e c c i à t t i a t #

t & f  i  4 ëÿ fttiiH ÜîÈMê 1tts&wA«*J « ! - # ® d

# àS w f I* #

6. H ave vou ever made application fo n  repatriation to Japan?,........ ye date.^v ...^ ,......... . ..... --.jkj and your jreasoni for so
applying: * ’ïî». Jm -■? 4l: it fe iV it 9 t v f « * «  «  w. ll'W'jP MR>

wSUL+WVQ t jà rï  ̂ •-» i tdS **Ü Ürli»3tfiïfil VjWHfeÜt's» f # r  r« -a

É'9$Ê*M1 WMm  4» l- &■fâ-Whim ’flMr w A  Êffî# 4

u

7. (A ) H ave you ever expressly indicated th ^  ^<^ would not swear unqualified 
allegiance to the U nited States?

H ave you ever declined to answer when J^ked whether you 
would swear unqualified allegiance? ™

Or have you ever given a qualified answer to such question asked at W ar Relocation Centers?........................................ I f  so, give your reasons:

•• mmm

(B) I f  your answer to any of the questions in (A ) is affirmative, then did you ever subsequently change your m ind and fetjÎress your willmgness
to swear an unqualified allegiance or would you have been w illing to do so if  an opportunity had b£en a f f o a d e d j y o u ? j £ . . . j ^ , s o ^ t a t e  
when you changed your m ind and your reasons therefor: - if&  •' «jpjf i 1  •>!' f  * \ I' n-H

WSjf ® $ fiH 1MI: 4 iMMHl JL F08NWM1 iMI
y a 6 i d ^  t i f i .  j , I • 11^4^ JL 1 ■0i  w’??- v u  ^ ■ v ■ '« i*  fil-n* ^ v

%lM& 11 v| b ■>'##
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(C) D id  you ever indicate that you would not swear unqualified allegiance to the U nited States either expressly or by refusal to answer, or a quali­
fied answer, knowing that by so doing vou would be sent to the W RA Segregation Center at Tnle Ia te ?  Tf «« pi™ reasons:

8. (A )

WERE Y O U  EVER A T  A N Y  TIM E A  MEMBER O F A N Y  OF T H E  FO LLO W IN G  O R G A N IZ A T IO N S :

Answer
Period of  

MembershipYes N o

Black D ragon Society (Kokuryu Kai) 1Êm
Central Japanese Association (Beikoku Chuo N ipponjin  Kai)
Central Japanese Association o f Southern California

D ai N ipp on  Butoku Kai (M ilitary Virtue Society o f Japan or M ilitary Art Society o f  Japan) (H okubei Kai) m
Heimuska Kai, also known as Hokubei H eieki Gitnusha Kai Zaibei N ihonjin , Heiyaku Gimusha Kai, and •W
Zaibei Heimusha Kai (Japanese residing in  Am erican M ilitary Conscripts Assoc.) Heimusha Kai
H in odeK ai (Im perial Japanese Reservists) I!'
H inom aru Kai (Rising Sun Flag Society— a Group o f  Japanese W ar Veterans)
Hokubei Z aigo Shoko D an (N orth American Reserve Officers Association)
Japanese Association o f America (Zaibei N ihon jin  Kai)
Japanese Overseas Central Society (Kaigai D obo Chuo Kai) JL
Japanese Overseas Convention, Tokyo, Japan, 1940
Japanese Protective Association (Recruiting O rganization) jk
Jikyoku Iin  Kai (Current Affairs Association) -■ S
Kibei Seinen Kai (Association o f U . S . Citizens o f Japanese Ancestry who have returned to Atnerica after 

studying in  Japan)
— I —

Nanka Teikoku Gunyudan (Im perial Military Friends Group or Southern California W ar Veterans) Jb

Nichibei Kogyo Kaisha (T he Great Fujii Theatre) ----jfc--------

Northwest Japanese Association

Sakura Kai (Patriotic Society or Cherry Association— composed o f Veterans o f Russo-Japanese W ar) 
(Cherry Blossom Society)

Shinto Temples
Sofcoku Kai (Fatherland Society)

Suiko Sha (Reserve Officers Association Los Angeles)
H okoku Seinen-Dan
Hokoku Joshi Seinen-Dan

A-
Sokoku Kenkyu Seinen-Dan X
Sokuji Kikoku H oshi-Dan &
(B) Give reasons for becom ing a member:

^  * * * * * * * * *  'C'lf
f r  - ; f m m  * h i « h  1 
w »  H l a  * 1

(C) State nature o f your activity and offices you held:

(D ) I f  you voluntarily discontinued membership in any o f the aforem entioned organizations, give approximate date and reasons for so doing:



Kiyoshi Yano
7.{A)

Sometime in the summer of 1943, some of us were called in indivually by the 
Director, Mr. Ralph Merritt, of Manzanar Center, to explain about our answers 
to Questions No. 27 and No. 28. My answers were recorded by the secretary.

At the heading I told Mr. Merritt in effect that I had no grudges against 
America; and that I liked this country. I told him that one of ray younger 
brothers was in the United States Army and another was relocated and had no 
intention of going to Japan, and since I was the eldest son of the family,
1 thought I had to go to Japan to see my aging parents. My parents, one 
younger brother and three sisters were there.

At that time I feared that since the Questions were asked only to the 
people of Japanese ancestry, the record might somehow be known by the authori­
ties in Japan. Knowing the severe attitude of the rulers of Japan then and 
seeing the compact community life in Manzanar, I felt that if 1 were to go 
to Japan I should be careful not to leave a record on account of which I 
might be regarded as an enemy of Japan and^et treated like one there.
I had and still have a younger brother iir Japan but at that time I did not 
think he would survive the war. X thought he and my father would be regarded 
with suspicion in Japan if I gave Yes answers and this became known in Japan.

I would have been glad to perform the duties expected of me as a citizen 
by the United States, irrespective of ray family ties, if I had not been 
required to answer those questions prepared only for the citizens of Japanese 
ancestry. In fact, that was my very attitude before the evacuation. To the 
Draft Board and at the Induction ienter in Los ^nges where I had my physical 
examination in 1939 or 1940, I had not refused to swear unqualified allegiance 
to the United States and I would have served gladly if I had been inducted.
The first classification I received was 1-8 and then 1-A with conditions 
but I had been classified 4-C.

9*(A) cont.
a "Shimbei-Ha" (friend of America) and that I was in danger of violence 
for not cooperating with the Dan.

d. Takeshi Nagatsuka, who headed the Ward VIII Japanese school, advised 
me to be careful not to offend the Dan people because he said I was called a 
"Shimbei-Ha*' (friend of America) and "Inu" (dog) by seme teachers of Ward VIII 
school. He said the "speak Japanese" advocates did not approve my speaking 
English, even to my wife.

e. Mr. Riichi Tokunaga was in my Adult English Glass (Americanization 
Class) in Manzanar Center. He and his family were our next door neighbors 
in Block 83 in Tule Lake. He used to express his disapproval of the 
Hokoku Seinen-Dan to his friends. One night in Oct. 1944, a man who he 
believed to be a Hoshi-Dan member, threw pieces of 2x4 lumber at him and 
his friend friend, Mr. Arataka, as they were coming home from a religious 
meeting. Although Mr. Tokunaga was not seriously hurt, Mrs. Tokunaga 
worried about her husband1s safety after that incident and often cried in 
their quarters and both of them were constantly in fear of future assaults.
We could hear her hysterical cries which made my wife feel uneasy and made 
me fear physical harm from Dan members.

f. Two or three weeks after Mr. Tokunaga?s incident, Toshi Teragawa, 
whose father citicized the Dan activities, was slashed in the face by a Dan 
member in Block 78, which was next to our Block. Incidents like hese
and the .Hitomi murder case and others reminded us that there was no 
protection against violence in the camp. Seinen-Danfs Sunday demonstration 
bugle blowing pre-dawn rituals and drills were held in the exercise grounds 
near our building and they became noisier and noisier. I had seen the 
Manzanar incident of Dec* 6 , 1942, and knew how dangerous it was to be called 
"inu” or a name with similar meaning*

g. In the fall of 1944 the Hoshi-Dan and the Seinen-Dan strongly urged 
the residents to renounce American citizenship. I did not J°ln either of 
the Dans nor did I have my lair clipped short as the Dan members did. But

continued:



Kivoshi Yano 2

I was afraid of being ostracized by the residents of our Block and the Ward. 
I felt that the only way to"avoid becoming the target of an attack by the 
Dan members was to renounce as the Dan urged. It was a fear of violence by 
unknown Dan members and not of any particular individuals. Because I would 
not cooperate with the Dan and did not make a prompt request to renounce my 
citizienship*' members of the Wakayama gang called me Inu and spy which made 
me a marked man and I feared if I did not renounce I would be attacked by a 
Dan mob.

h. Block 83 was one of the most Hoshi«Dan and Seinert-Dan conscious blocks 
in the whole camp* and it was not easy to move to another block at that time. 
There were Messrs. Gkinaka, Hisamune, Teshiba and others who were very active 
and Mr. Teshiba was going back to the village only three miles from my 
parents1 home in Japan. At that time I thought there was a likelihood of 
deportation, and I was afraid that my wife and I might be on the same boat 
with the Dan members on the way to Japan. I feared unless we renounced, we 
would be harmed physically and otherwise on the boat. I feared also that 
the Kempeitai and the police might punish me and also that we might not be 
accepted by the people of my parents’ village and be ostracized because I 
would be branded as a spy suspect by neighborhood associations. This was 
one of my fears because of the rumors, announcements and belief the Dan 
leaders black listed all non-members and these who refused to renounce citizen­
ship and would notify the Japanese authorities.
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(E) I f  you claim that your membership in any o f  the aforem entioned organizations, your activities therein, or your acceptance o f an office was 
due to misunderstanding o f the purpose or nature o f the organization, explain fully:

(F) I f  you at any time wished to discontinue membership, activity, or office and were prevented from so doing, explain fully:

or
In Tul®

1944*
Lake

9. (A ) W hen did you decide to apply for forms upon which to renounce your U nited States citizenship?
Give reasons for so doing: J J  ^ p 3 i f c i  | 0 3 P  1 » !  i n H C - V e

I decided to renounce X bed the idlewiag experiences 
Ciinter which created fcurt of bens to me and ay family:

&• inJunet »1944» ’•Barcn* lane who lived in Block 4, refused 
cnurch wedding because it see officiated by t Christian minist*
Bhigeo Kawasaki told ad later that Mr# Kano remarked that e. true Japanese woujLti 
not have a Christian wediing# 1 was the ’•principal* of the Japanese School ini 
lard X aad Hr# lane end thigeo Kawasaki were teacher# in the same school#

1« Mr# «ianaye Iked#, block 17 manager End the Ward X education committee 
elisXriB&n told me in ept* ©r Oct# 1944-§ that the Werd X okoku Kcnkyukai grou d 
tried to take over the Werd I Japanese Schoolt because as the principal I did

to
r.

come
Rev#

to »y 
Oml#

not cooperate with them# Mr# Ik*?da 
(principal) to avoid offending the 
priaal on m *

c# hide© Masada was a member cl* 
friendly to me in Maasanfar tenter, 
lake and blamed mu for not billing with the Dan 
Japanese an$ English languages# he warned me th

opposed such a nove# 1 resig 
extrañe group end to prevent

:d the se«t 
Physical re«»

m
the «akayaaa gang (San Pedro)# He had been 
but changed his attitude toward Me in Tuie 

cauat; with my knowledge o f th e  
t I was regarded as (cont#)

in answer to preceding question differ from  reasons given to officer who held renunciation hearing, give your explanation(B) reasons
for difference: X t O l d  t h #  I T 1 f;

to renounce one# 1 denied that 
that if X told the officer— it 
elation would be refused and t

officer that I was a dual citizen 
there was any coercion upon me# 1 
was a woman officer— the real ire a so 
►at the Dan members would know about

ana
the

wan: ed 
ught

, my renun- 
it#

(C) I f  you claim that your renunciation was caused by fear, ydu should explain fully why such fear extended from the time o f the application for 
renunciation papers until the date o f actual renunciation:
The 

isksy* 
Office 
in the 
if we 
watching 
expect to 
by them#

u S S l ©
a gang# 
má kne w 
Latrine, 
tre goin 

o see 
be a

ant manager of our Block i$3)f 
• It was common knowledge tfeai 

who took action to renounce 
und in the la und ry room we \

ihimod*«»san bel on, «
> he checlasd the mail 
and who did not# At 
fere asked by the Bl<

i to
at
the

t he
the Block 
mess halli 
teorie

g to renounce# x was n rear because the Ban members wars 
U  1 really renounced, and so X realised if I didn't I could 

victim Qi violence and was fearful that ay wife night be harmed

i n )  I f  the fear did not extend from the date o f application to the date o f  approval by the Attorney General, you should state whether you made 
any effort to withdraw your application, and if  not, explain fully:

After the active Bokoku beinftn«»Dan members and hoshl««Ban leader# were removed 
to internment camps in the spring of 194$» general tension in Tula lake 
relaxed and we had little fear* But X took no action to ask the 
General to withdraw his approval of my renunciation# X 
to ask for such withdrawal#

ttorney 
thought it was futile

(E) If , after approval, you requested the Attorney General tq withdraw his approval o f vour renunciation or to cancel your renunciation, give the.......... I believe I Stolled in >ei»t. 1945 to “ ‘request:. *  WWJU*<5 V «  X  * P p A X # C  ill • 1 9 4 j t O fir# F d W i f d  jbnniay Alien wentrol unara, department oi Justice, for a hearing; on the matter of my renunciation of citizenship# Reason for uuch delay in a Allying was that 
®y wile was expecting a baby in hept# of that year and we were airraid to leave the Center before the baoy oi.ie aa we had no funds#
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(F ) I f  there are any other facts which influenced your action in renouncing your U nited States citizenship, state fully below or on a separate sheet 
if  necessary.

The actions X took in e&ap war# chain react
n ******—  M  |— ¡¡SB “e M  \ed M0

--- ' ~ --------T y*" ’’T — ——
^ r4 rtce H

ns t____________  pe .kso” answer to Huaation ho* 28 lid ai to Tuia Lake Contar, whtn lui to tho 
fe&r X renounced my citizenship* As X had no Intention of refusing to awes: 
unquiliiiid alleai anco to tho uniteci it&tos bifore tho a vacuati on so X did noi 
Hava any intention of renouncing *X United States eitlxoashlp until tho condì* 
tiens in Tula Lake became hard for no not to renounce* X am attaching a 
photographed copy of a latter of introduction given to ae by Dr* Genevieve

tc

Carter, Superintendent of Education In Kansanar* hen I arrived at 
the Adult fngltsh classes sere closed, and I did net take this let' 
Barkness to whom It was addressed* ur*

-fir
.e Lake,

of * h elfare Council in Los ingoi es i(egi< 
was given permission to use

»n*
thOr* Carter and

this affidavit* X an sure that if eur cvacu 
have followed u course similar to those of other loyal Atcriil 
not have renounced my American citizenship*

lx now the .Director of S m i r c h
X recently <COÏit scf* #S <2 asked
.s letter in nonneCtiOfi withwMm
.Ion did not take place, 1 wou d

an tould

10. (A ) I f  you now are in Japan, give your reasons for having returned to Japan.

(B) I f  you are in Japan, have you since you returned to Japan taken any action to resume or acquire Japanese citizenship?... 

I f  you have, state nature of action taken and reasons therefor.
Answer Yes or N o

11. (A ) I f  you have served or are serving in the military or naval forces o f the U nited States fill in the following:

I enlisted (or was drafted) on ............................ ....................................in the................................. ........................... .......; my Serial number is..................................;
State the date State the Branch of Service

I still am in such service...................................................... ; I was released from active duty on........... ....r..;.........................................and received my Discharge
Answer Yes or N o

on...................................... ......................................

(B) I f  at any time while in a war relocation center or since then you volunteered for military or naval service but your offer o f service was rejected 
state the time when and the place where you volunteered.

(C) State why your offer of such service was rejected, if  the reason was made known to you.

(D ) I f  you were rejected for military or naval service by your Local D raft Board since your release from a war relocation center state the reason 
for the rejection if  known to you.

12. I f  any member o f your fam ily has served or is serving in the military Or naval forces o f the U nited States state the relationship o f such person 
to you, the name o f  such person, the branch of service and serial number o f such person:

Brother
Relationship

Aray
Branch of Service

Tiutoau Xeno
Name

39015437
Serial N um ber

/s/ Kiyoshi Yano
(Signature in full of applicant)

Subscribed and sworn to before me this... ................ day of.__ 56.... 19

/&/ Tetsu.iiro Nakamura
Notary Public in and for the County 
of Los Angeles, State of California 

seal My Commission expires Oct. 24, 195#
This affidavit may be executed before any person authorized to administer oaths.



PERSONAL QUESTIONNAIRE

Please read this questionnaire carefully and then print, type or write your answers legibly 
to the following questions.

a. State your full name___ Jf\f I ------------------ ----- I------------ -

b. Male? JzZ... Female? _____  Maiden Name? __N.Ç.NÆ..____________________________...

c. Birth place ? __h).Ê.ZP.3J...L__ _____ Birth date? ...ISJjPL
d. Present address: ULJLPLjt....... .̂.Ç..:...ZẐ Æ/.L>Û.3.3....________________ __ ____________
__________________ /9#&&A£. S ________ é r C/9L/Z*.________________

PRELIMINARY QUESTIONS

1. Where did you live before evacuation? 3J-&l......______ ldJ/.N.Q.Z?..9../&..___ liLt.lZ.ZP.:............
jL o 5 5____L&..LUr..,_________________________ _____________

2. What was your occupation before evacuation? ...»ZJSÉâ.̂ ùS.M.__J ? . ............
. SCHOOL TBftcHEU?. ..U.A1.TL.U___ ZPM^..Lr...jS.^A.....______________ ____

3. Who, if anyone, was wholly or partially dependent upon you for support at the time you
were evacuated ? __ZZo__..Q/VÆ.___ ...____;__ :____ _____ _______ ______ __________ __

4. Where did your father and mother reside at the time of evacuation ?. j a p a A .

Were they aliens! _____________________ 1________________________ ._____________
What were their ages at the time of evacuation? .......... ................. ...... ..... ...._________________
Were your parents both evacuated also? ............Was either of them in ill health while in
a WRA Center?---------Was either of them hospitalized while in a WRA Center? .. ..........
If so, when and in what Center?___ ______ ____ __________________________________

Were you or any other members of your family in ill health while in a WRA Center? Y g $
If so, state who was, and, if hospitalized, state when, for what period of time, and in what
Center? >*>Y BECAME PAIM EULl, &I

QtLEL. ¿AL QCTL, t3 J AL____ /  ¿t//9S //V TV/~E jH ° 5 £ /t/)L
/=o/t 09Y......

5. When and where were you married? ^  ̂ __ /  9  ____________\ / ............
What is the name of your spouse? ...........................¿ t//) ............................... ..... .............. .............
Is your spouse (wife or- husband) a U. S. citizen, a renunciant or an alien? ....
£ O l2 £ J h L ^  W fis Uo/p

6. Mftiat are the names, birthdates and birthplaces of your children?.................................
SLO B B Y ....KlM M lL,......3j3mC.YM-TUm.JBAE CBA/tEP OAJ

.CHR/3l[ML^BiJSQ^.... " ___________a......  / o s  ^

MBQPlL,_____ it____j±_________a._________a ____________________ " r /9S~f~

What members of your family were evacuated with you ? ........... ..............................
___ TM.ZX....._________________ M Y  5 Bcoajd SP otBBB /?oV W / 7 V S / / /
■ dAP-H/A.UJ/FX U '£A/T TO M r A//Do A rk .
State what members of your family (spouse, mother, father, brothers, sisters or children),
were in Japan during the w ar?.... A/%7 Tff/xZP OA/Z:

...... ........ ........................

7.

8.
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9. Who of them, if any, were U. S. citizens? — ------

u)£J?P BoKAf f bS V . S.  f t_„__ _______ ......____________- _________________

10. Did any of them serve in the Japanese armed forces? —fcfjQ.------------------- ----

11. State what members, if any, of your spoused family (your father-in-law, mother-in-law, 
sisters-in-law, brothers-in-law, or step-children) were in Japan during the war and whether 
they are U. S. citizens or Japanese aliens? ...U..y3..,.— JMJQ.-------------
aifoTH/5/?S - Mf - L fiHS M O  m o  S tS im S  ______
fyT/ZJEA/S FATHER-/M-A*9W DBQeA sB P . MOTHER-/M -¿AW  M 7tJf?&JL/2£ b

yg/vy J-ITTte.
12. Did you suffer any property losses by reason of your evacuation?---------Did you file a

claim to recover losses you suffered by reason of your evacuation? o S .5 — For what
amount did you file your claim? __ What amount did you receive in settlement
of your claims ? .̂..i£..A~.~.______ Did your parents suffer any property losses by reason of
evacuation?______If so, for what amount did they file claim s?------------------------------ ---------
What amount did they receive in settlement of their claim s?-----------------------------------------

13. State whether your husband, father or any other member of your family was interned as
an alien enemy after the outbreak of war in an Alien Enemy Internment Camp, for 
removal to Japan, and, if  so, in what camp? — A(0„— QjbLEL-...................... .............................

When and where were you reunited with such member of your family?

Re: LEAVES

14. Did you apply for “ short term” , “ seasonal work” , “ indefinite leave”, “ student’s leave”
or “ relocation” while you were in a WRA Center? ......... AG2------------------------ .-------------------
When did you make that application?------------------------------------------------------------- -------------
In what camp were you at that tim e?------------------------- --------------------------------------------------

Were you denied leave?---------By whom?

What reasons were given to you for denying your application?

15. Did you go out for seasonal work or on any leave clearance? ..hLQ-----When and where did
you go and for what period of tim e?------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------

What type of work did you d o ? ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Did you experience any discrimination or persecution while on leave? ............ If so, state
the experience. ----------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------

To what Center did you return?
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16. State the names of any members of your family or any of your friends who went out on 
leave or relocation and experienced discrimination or persecution__ ____________________

What happened to them?

When and where did the occurrences take place?

From whom or what sources did you hear or learn those things ?

Did you know or learn of any other persons on leave having been subjected to discrimina­
tion or persecution ? /CQ..__What were their names ? ....................... ................................................

What happened to them?

When and where did the occurrences take place?

Re: APPLICATIONS FOR REPATRIATION

17. To what Assembly Center were you evacuated? ...

18. To what WRA Center were you next transferred? ...

19.

20. 

21.

In what Block did you live there ? IN  ftlp cks  n  2S M O  R /  ...........................
With whom did you share quarters there? ... / ........................

Did any of the following persons also make applications for repatriation to Japan ? ...........
Your husband? ..... ......  wife? ............ father? ............ mother? ............ brothers?
sisters? ............father-in-law?............. mother-in-law?............. brothers-in-law?............. sisters-
in-law? ........... When and in what Center were they at the time they did th is? .........................

Did they then fear that the government intended to deport all aliens to Japan? ........... ;
that it intended to deport all Kibei to Japan?...........; that it intended to deport all Nisei to
Japan? ............
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22. Did you make more than one application f  or repatriation to Japan, and, if so, when and 
where did you do so ? ------------------------- -------------------------------------------------------------------------

23. What members of your family pressured you into applying for repatriation to Japan? 

What did they say to you to get you to apply for repatriation?----- T-------------------------------

24. Did anyone else, not a member of your family, pressure you into applying for repatriation 
to Japan?_______ Name the persons who did and state whether they were Issei, Kibei, or

If those persons were leaders or members of any organization state the name of the organ-

What did those persons tell you to get you to apply for repatriation?

25. What did you then believe would happen to you if you did not make an application for
repatriation to Japan? _TQ(/9 77OAi

i  VioUq-HT QMPa^T/9 rs o * /L O frS  posS s& A S .____________________
Were you fearful that if you did not apply for repatriation you would be separated from
your husband? ______ wife? ______ children? ______ mother? ______ father? ______
brothers?______sisters?_______or other persons? _____________________________________
Were those persons in the same Center with you at the time you applied for repatriation? 
______ If any of them were not, state who was not and where they were at the time.

26. Did you believe that if you didn’t apply for repatriation to Japan that sooner or later you
would be forced to relocate in the U. S?? m a ^ a r e ^ fe s iii^ to  Japanese? ______;
that you might be drafted into the armed forces? ./d.Q...; that you would be separated from
alien members of your family you believed would be deported to Japan?______

27. Did you make application for repatriation because you believed the Government had no use
for you and intended to deport you to J  apan because you were a Kibei ? ....____ ; or that it
intended to deport you to Japan because your parents were there?______; or because your
parents were aliens here and that it intended to deport them on an exchange ship to Japan
simply because they were aliens?______; and that they wanted you to be with them and
not be separated from them ?___ __

Re: QUESTIONS 27 AND 28

28. In what WRA Center were you at the time you answered the Army Questionnaire contain- 
ing Questions Nos. 27 and 28? ... _______________ _________ ____________

Was the Questionnaire you answered the Army Questionnaire or the WRA Application
for Leave Clearance, if  you remember ....
frPPtieAT/OAf FOtè ÂJB)V/S (UBAftMCJz / g g -
C / E l V / A / q -  / = ^ c M  B h i( R B  I T B M  /  A V  C / 9 M P
5 /9  Y/A/Cf T tff iT  M 6 Wrt*? TO AACA / a/  / 9  QUB5T/0/Vmt£-
A0OVT M y  Lm U E
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29. Did you give a negative answer to Question No. 27? 'YMJÎL. ; to Question No. 28?
Did you refuse to answer Question No. 27 ?...— -...; Question No. 2 8 ? ______

30. Did any members of your family pressure you or threaten you into giving a “ N o” answer
to Questions Nos. 27 and 28 or into refusing to answer those questions? Who were
the family members who did th is?_____________________ *,______________________________

What did they say to you to get you to answer “ N o” to those questions or to refuse to 
answer those questions4« _______________ _____ ____________________ ._________________ __

Did you give a “ N o” answer to those questions or refuse to answer them because your
fath er?__mother? — brotherls? sisters? m^ether family members?
---------were in Japan at the time and you feared they might get in trouble with the Japa­
nese government if you were willing to serve in the U. S. Army? were willing to
swear allegiance to the U. S.? L. Did you give “ N o” answersrtiTtliose questions or
refuse to answer them because your father?________mother?________ brothers?________
sisters? ....-------or other family members?-------were in the U. S. but you believed they were
to be deported to Japan and that they would get in trouble with the Japanese Government
when they arrived there if you had answered 4‘Y es” to those questions?______ Did you give
a “ N o” answer to those questions because you believed that eventually you would be 
deported to Japan and you feared that if you gave a “ Y es” answer to those questions you 
would get in trouble with the Japanese Government when you arrived in Japan?_______

31. Did any other persons pressure or threaten you into giving “ N o” answers to those
questions or into refusing to answer those questions?---------What are the names of those
persons and state whether they were Issei, Kibei, or Nisei and the Blocks in which they 
lived and the organization, if any, of which they were members ? ________________________

What did those persons say to you to get you to give “ N o” answers to those questions or
to refuse to answer those questions?__________________________________________________

32. What did you fear would happen to you if you didn’t give “ N o” answers to those questions
or you didn’t refuse to answer them ?...'Iflû.T .../  M)*kHT NOT F5ËL ___
in. .... .............................................................................................................................Æ r £ / p  t / / æ

33. What did you fear would happen to other members of your family if you didn’t give “ N o” 
answers to those questions or you did not refuse to answer them? .C
•pyfe /T/ËAfPÆ/ -7 79/__m jz .. ._____________________

34. Did you refuse to answer those questions because you already had applied for repatriation
to Japan and you understood that if you already had applied for repatriation you did not 
have to answer those questions?______

35. Did you give “ N o” answers to those questions or refuse to answer them because you
resented being evacuated, confined to a WRA Center and treated like an alien? A fib .____

36. Did you give “ N o” answers to those questions or refuse to answer them because you 
already had applied for repatriation and believed that if you gave “ Y es” answers your 
application for repatriation would be cancelled and you might be drafted into the armed
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forces? ---------; or be forcibly relocated in the U. S. while the war still was going on?
--------- Did you fear that if you were to be drafted you would be discriminated against and
be persecuted in the armed forces? (/L£L.... Did you fear that if you were drafted?______or
relocated?______you would be permanently separated from members of your family who
were to be repatriated to Japan? ______; from what family members did you fear to be
separated?____________________ .____________________ _________________________________

37. Did anyone else, not a member of your family, pressure or threaten you into giving “ N o” 
answers to those questions? Qm ... What were their names and state whether they were 
Issei, Kibei or Nisei and the names of the organizations to which they belonged?_________

38. Did you fear that if you gave “ Y es” answers to those questions that you would have to 
stay in camp and be separated from your parents or other family members who were to be 
deported to Japan because they were aliens or because they had asked to be sent to Japan
and you did not want to be separated from them? ______ From what parent or family
members did you fear separation?___________ ._________________ _______________________

39. Did you fear that if you gave “ Y es” answers to those questions you eventually would 
have to relocate in this country during the war and would be in danger from hostile
Caucasians? __M3}__________________________________ ___________________________
Who told you that this might happen to you? _________________ ..._____________________.....

40. Did you fear that if you gave “ Y es” answers to those questions that it would mean you 
might be drafted into military service where you would be discriminated against or be 
persecuted by fellow soldiers or that you might be used as cannon fodder just because you 
had Japanese ancestry? .Al(2..... Who told you that this might happen to you ?___..._______

41. Did you fear that if you gave “ Y es” answers to those questions that you might be attacked
and harmed by groups of Issei, Kibei or Nisei in camp? t£0..__ Name the group and its
leaders or members from whom you feared this danger?_______________________________

Did you give “ N o” answers to those questions as a protest against the mistreatment of 
evacuation and confinement to a camp? ..bLS___

42. Were you, or any member of your family, or any friend or anyone else attacked by 
members of the pressure groups in that Center for showing loyalty to the U. S.? V ^ S
or opposition to the pressure groups? — ........  or for giving “ Y es” answers to Questions
Nos. 27 and 28?---------If so, state the names of the persons who were attacked__________

-.D.ÜË. 0/5 TWO D ftys THE ¡Nnn&JT nhi
....TÔ..YBMÔ...VdM ..fi&9T£A/________________________________

When were they attacked ? &C*Sja£yJ3Î&-. By whom were they attacked? _
2Sjôj.£> THB t f )  H tM sj G-Qouo A nrflcfren  N /^ n ______________

43. Did you then believe that if you gave a “ N o” answer to those questions that you would 
be allowed to stay in the Center for the duration of the war and in this way you and your
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family would be free from danger of persecution by Caucasians? ______ _ Who told you
this? ______________________________________ _________________________________ _________

44. Did you give “ N o” answers to Questions Nos. 27 and 28 or refuse to answer those ques­
tions because you had been informed by the WEA or understood that because you already 
had applied for repatriation to Japan that you did not have to answer those questions? 
 Who told you th is? ________________________________ ..__________________________

45. Did you ever give a “ Yes” answer to Question No. 27? ______ ; to Question No. 28?______ ;
Did you change your answer to Question No. 27 or 28 to “ N o” at any tim e?__________
Did you change your answer to Questions Nos. 27 and 28 to “ N o” or refuse to give “ Y es” 
answers to those questions by July 31, 1943, because you knew that “ N o” answers or a 
refusal to answer those questions would mean that you would be sent to Tule Lake or be 
segregated there with alien members of your family from whom you did not want to be 
separated?_______

46. When and where did you first register for the draft? 3 Or / ?  fco_/N _________
r h y  c p m p a b t e  d b b /~t  / te e o /e o s )

What classification did you first receive? ------ J.J5._X#^...jLfi./ Di<i you^ver /receive a 4-C
(alien enemy) classification? MlQ.._When did you receive that 4-C classification? ...J..__QLQ

A  ...rtnA/tD SHobUs,
In what Center were you when you received it? ^ f  / CfiTfcyV._______
Did you receive that 4-C classification before you answered the Army Questionnaire in 
February or March of 1943 while you were in a WEA Center or did you receive it 
afterward? LD /O  NOT P/ND OUT QM&MUMX.))NT!JL. BETT#£ USfife .

47. While you were in any WEA Center did you sign a petition addressed to the Attorney 
General, the President, the Army, the WEA or other governmental agency or agent stating 
in substance that if you were freed and returned to your home you would fight for the U. S.
and give your life if necessary for this country? .AI..0..... In what Center were you at the
time ? _______________________________________________________ ___ _______

Did you sign such a petition before you answered the Army Questionnaire in February or
March, 1943 or afterward?---------Did you sign such a petition before you made a request
for repatriation to Japan or afterward? --------- When were your parents first placed on
the free list or notified that they could be relocated? ......______________________

Were any other members of your family placed on the WEA free list for relocation 
purposes and, if so, who were they and when were they placed on the free lis t? __________
BH/MB/i SSLy  HITOSH/... WDtS. fte to w n sp  /  8 BUFJ/B / / /  / ? £ • ?  !=koM Tlihliha^f)

48. Would you have been willing to swear unqualified allegiance to the U. S. while you were 
in a WEA Center if the Government had allowed you to return to your home as a free
citizen? Would you have been willing to return to your home alone? il.Q .__; without
the citizen members of your family likewise being freed from detention? ; without the
alien members of your family also being freed?------ ---Would you have been willing only if
the Government would assure you that you would be relocated safe from harm from
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Caucasians? Y ^S. ; that the citizen members of your family would be relocated safe from
harm? ______; and that the alien members of your family would be relocated safely?
_______ Were the alien members of your family willing to return to their homes during the
war if the Government would allow them ?---------Were they willing to be relocated else­
where in the U. S .? ----------

49.
/ your

T
you report

To what Draft Board 1 
What draft classification did you finally receive? ...J—
After your release from camp did you volunteer for service in our armed forces? .MA—
Were you drafted into the armed forces?---------- W hen--------------------------------- ; into what
branch?___________________________ __________ ; what period of time did you serve?------- ;
where did you serve?_________ ________________________________________ ; what was your
Serial Number ? ______________ _________ _ Have you received an Honorable Discharge from
such service?____.....; what is the date of that Discharge? ........... .......... ................... .................

50.

51.

Re: MEMBERSHIP IN ORGANIZATIONS

Were you at any time a member of the Hoshi Dan? Ĵ ..Q— ; Seinen Dan? fcLQ..— ; or Joshi
Dan? .M.0— ; at the Tule Lake Center?-------- - When did you become a member?..................
How long were you a member?_______________________________________________ ._______
When did you stop being a member ? __________ _________________________________________
In what Block did you live at the time you became a member? __________________________
What was the name of your Block Manager? ! r?)f PfiOL OKHMOTO CSrd)
With whom did you share living quarters at tlie  ̂TulTxaiS denter? i?L.

What organizations were active in that Block? JJH.____________________________________
3M/N^!s/r DRA/....77
What were the names of the leaders of the organizations in vnnr Block O/Cs/V/j-sr/} ~~

.HR. M fRM VA/ * -  HQ9ft/ - D m . . MR, fiQ fjfle ff/
MR-Mftsofto

Was your father?__ ___ or m other?_____ ..... a member of any organizations?........................

Did they persuade you to become a member?______What did they say to you to persuade
you to become a member?________ ____ ...̂ _____________________________________________

What other members of your family were members of the Hoshi Dan?

Joshi D an ?____ ___________ _______ ..........__ _____________________________________
Seinen D an?_______________________________ _______________________________
Why did they become members?___ ____ ____________________________________

52. What are the names of the persons other than members of your family who persuaded or 
threatened you into becoming a member and state whether such persons were Issei, Kibei 
or Nisei? ________________________ ______________ i,__________________________
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53.

54.

55.

What duties did you perform as an officer!

As a member did you attend any morning calisthenic exercises ? ______Approximately how
often did you join in the calisthenics?__________________________________________

Did you attend any of the organization’s lectures?---------Approximately how many lectures
did you attend?---------------What was the nature of those lectures?______________

Did you participate in any of their marching demonstrations? ________ If so, how many?

Did you attend any other meetings of the organization? ________ Where and how often?

56. Did you tell anyone you wanted to drop membership? ______ State the names of the
persons you told you wanted to drop membership. ________________________________

Did anybody warn you that you could not withdraw from membership?______ Who gave
you such a w arning?_____________________________________________________

What did they tell you would happen if you dropped your membership or tried to drop 
membership ? ______________________________________________________

Had you learned that anyone who tried to drop membership had been threatened or had
been beaten up for trying to drop membership?--------- Who, if you know, was beaten for
trying to do i t ? ________ _________________________________________________

What group did you hear was responsible for beating persons who tried to withdraw from 
membership ? _________________________________________________________

57. Were you in fear that you would be attacked and beaten up by members if you tried to 
drop membership?---------What groups did you fear might do th is? ____________________

What did they tell you to persuade you to become a member?_____________

What did they say would happen to you if you did not become a member? 

What did you believe would happen to you if you did not become a member?

What office, if any, did you hold in the organization? _____________________

What duties did you perform ?___________________________________________

How did you become an officer ? __________________________________________

When did you become an officer?_________________________________________

From whom did you receive notice that you were an officer?_______________
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58. Were you told that if you tried to drop membership the organization would report this 
matter to the Japanese Government and that when you were deported to Japan you would 
get in trouble with the Japanese Government?______Who told you th is?________________

Did you fear that if you dropped membership you would get in trouble with the Japanese 
Government when you were deported to Japan ? ______

59. Were you told that if you tried to drop membership the organization leaders would report 
this matter to the Japanese Government and that your alien parents would get in trouble 
with the Japanese Government when they were sent to Japan for not being able to control 
your actions? ______Who told you th is? _________________________ _____________________

Did you fear that if you dropped membership your parents who were to be sent to Japan 
would get in trouble there?______

60. Did you have your hair cut short or shaved? _______ Did you wear any insignia of the
organization and, if so, what insignia? _______________________________________________

61. If you or any member of your family was placed in the “ Stockade” at Tule Lake Center 
state who was, for what period of time and for what reason____________________________

62. What was the nature of your employment and where did you work while you were in 
Tule Lake ? LT/T/g  " "  p f  U /M tl L 'SCHOOL,

Oct. i t * *  them &. TBAcf/e //v rfte t///b h/p p
A Hoip'fTfiL~/Of& TBcP/y't'cW/T TMt Z e F f c v ffip
What were your working hours? _jdLi/i£§. Were you working while you were a member of 
any organization at T u le?---------What were the names of some of your fellow workers?

....m ^M 0 O 7 l2lJ/T7  ______

63. Were you, or any member of your family, or any friend attacked by any members of any 
of the pressure groups at Tule Lake? Who was? A?/p. fc/fC ’J '//_1~Q

W  hen 1 .
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Re: REQUESTS FOR FORMS UPON WHICH 
TO RENOUNCE CITIZENSHIP

64. When did you send a letter to the Attorney General or the Justice Department asking for
forms upon which to renounce your citizenship? _______________________________________
(Note: On December 19,1944, General Pratt removed the ban on the return of Japanese to 
the West Coast. On December 21, 1944, the Newell Star, the Tule Lake Center newspaper, 
announced that all the WRA camps would be closed in about one year. Notices of this also 
may have been posted in the block manager’s offices, the mess halls and other places in camp.

Therefore, if you sent a letter to the Attorney General or the Justice Department before 
December 21, 1944, asking for forms upon which to renounce citizenship you probably were 
not then in fear of the camp being closed and of being forced to relocate in a hostile area 
without funds or a home to which you could go. If you sent such a letter between December 
21, 1944 and January 29, 1945, you probably were in fear of being relocated in such circum­
stances. On January 29, 1945, the WRA announced that Tule Lake would be kept open and 
that there would not be any forced relocations. If you sent your letter after Jaunary 29, 
1945, the Justice Department will be inclined to believe you were not then in actual fear of 
being forcibly relocated in a hostile area without funds or a home to which you could go 
unless you convince it that you did not believe the January 29, 1945, announcement that the 
Tule Lake Center would be kept open and that no one would be forced to relocate.)

65. Did you send that letter to the Attorney General or to the Justice Department before that
December 21, 1944 announcement that all the WRA Centers will be closed within a year? 
--------- Did you send it between December 21, 1944 and January 29, 1945?_______

66. Did you send it after the announcement of January 29, 1945, that the Tule Lake Center
would be kept open?______
If you sent in your letter to the Justice Department after the W RA’s announcement of 
January 29, 1945, that the Tule Lake Center would be kept open and that there would not 
be any forcible relocations you probably did not send that letter requesting forms upon 
which to renounce your citizenship by reason of fear that the Tule Lake Center would be 
closed and that you and your family would be forced to relocate and therefore, you should 
answer the following questions:
(a) From what source did you learn about that announcement of January 29, 1945: In
the Newell Star? —i _ . ;  from a notice on a bulletin board? ______; from the Block
Manager? ______; from what other persons? _________________________________________

(b) Did you believe the announcement? .JsTiL... If not, state why you did not believe the
announcement. ...______________MUL-GL.___AJLtoAYs
j& m q -/N q ~ ________ _____ ________________________________ ____ __________________

(c) Did anyone tell you that you could not trust that announcement? AtO If so, state who
told you not to rely on that announcement and what they said to you to make you disbelieve 
it_____ ______________________________________________________________________________

67. If the announcement of December 21, 1944, that all Centers would be closed within a year 
and the announcement of January 29, 1945, that Tule Lake Center would be kept open and 
there would not be any forcible relocations did not have anything to do with your decision 
to renounce your citizenship did you send the letter to the Justice Department asking for 
forms upon which to renounce citizenship because of any of the following fears, namely:
(a) fear of separation from alien members of your family, such as father?______mother?
---------father-in-law?----------mother-in-law?______ step-father?______ step-mother?______
other aliens?---------who you believed were to be deported to Japan? ______ ; (b) fear of
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being separated from citizen members of your family, such as your w ife?______husband?
---------children ? ______ who you believed would have to relocate in the U. S. ? ______  or
who you believed would be denorted^to Japan? ---------; (c) fear of being deported your-
self because you had given negative answers to Questions Nos. 27 or 28 ynd ^ e r e  
considered a disloyal persons fear of threat or harm to yourself ? p r
your wife? or husbandVrrr^~l or children? ______ or mother? ______Vo£~latiier?
---------or other members?______ of your family from gangs in the Center?______ ; (e) fear
of mistreatment or physical harm from the Government or its agents?______

68. Did the announcement of December 21, 1944, that all the WBA Centers would be closed
within a year cause you to send that letter to the Justice Department?______Did you read
that announcement in the Newell Star? ---------; from a bulletin board?______ ; or learn
about it from the Block Manager? ______; or from other persons and, if so, name the
persons: _______________ _______ ______ _______________________________________________

69. Did you send the letter to the Justice Department asking for forms upon which to 
renounce your citizenship because you feared that December 21, 1944, announcement meant 
that you and the citizen members of your family would be forcibly relocated without 
money, a home or job in an area where people were hostile to Japanese while the war still
was going on unless you renounced your citizenship? _______ Were you afraid of being
relocated because you had heard that jobs were scarce? ______; that employers did not
wish to hire Japanese and you might not get work to support yourself and your family?
---------; that the public was hostile to Japanese and you feared mob violence? ______  If
you had been forcibly relocated what members of your family would you then have had to 
support ? ________ ____________________________________________________________________

Had you heard of any relocated persons being discriminated against? ______; refused
w ork?---------; being insulted?--------- ; being attacked?--------- ; being shot a t? ______ ; being
persecuted?---------; whose homes had been burned? ------------ When and where had these
incidents taken p lace?_______________________________________________________________

What were the names of the persons who had been mistreated and state what it was that 
happened to them_________ _____________________________________________________

70. Did you send that letter because you believed that if you sent for the forms and renounced 
your citizenship that you would be interned by the Justice Department and could stay in 
camp until the war ended and then be safely relocated when public hostility to Japanese 
died down ? ---------- Who told you that this could be done ? _____ _____________________

71. Did any members of your family fear or tell you that you would be forcibly relocated and 
run the risk of danger from hostile Caucasians unless you sent that letter and renounced 
your citizenship and, if so, what members of your family told you this ? __________

72. Were any members of your family in fear of what might happen to you or to them if you 
did not send such a letter and, if so, state of what or of whom they were in fear? ..............
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73. Did you fear that if you did not send the letter and request forms upon which to renounce

your citizenship that you would be separated from alien members of your fam ily?_____ ;
and, if so, from what alien members?------------------------------------------ ......---------------------------- ,

or from citizen members? ______, and if so, from what citizen members of your family?

74. Name the members of your family who told you that you would be separated from your 
family if you did not send for the forms and renounce your citizenship?_________________

75. Name other persons, not members of your family, who told you that you would be separated 
from your family if you did not send for the forms and renounce your citizenship and state 
whether they were Issei, Kibei or Nisei___________ _________________ ______ ___________

76. What members of your family were in the Tule Lake Center at the time you sent that letter
to the Justice Department? —MX._ldJ.LEJEL.i~___________________________ M O  3 ______
— SZS JjgAL r IN -  ABlAJ___________________________________________________ _______
What members of your family pressured, threatened or persuaded you to send that letter?

What did they fear or say to you to get you to send that letter?

77. Did your husband? ______ w ife?______  father?______mother? ..._____ brothers?_______
sisters?---------in-laws? —,— „ force you to send a letter requesting forms on which to
renounce your citizenship so that you wouldn’t be separated from them by being forced to 
relocate while they remained in camp or finally were deported to Japan? If such person 
or persons were citizens of the TJ. S. state whether they already had sent for forms upon
which to renounce their citizenship?__________ __________________________ ______________

What did such person or persons say to you to force you to renounce your citizenship?

78. Did you send that letter requesting forms upon which to renounce citizenship because you 
heard that alien members of your family who had requested repatriation to Japan would 
have to stay in the Center until they could be exchanged or removed to Japan and that you 
ultimately would have to be relocated in this country and thus be separated from them
unless you applied for renunciation?______Who told you this might happen if you didn’t
renounce your citizenship?_____ ____________________________ __________________________

What alien members of your family already had asked for repatriation to Japan at the 
time you sent that letter?___________________________________________________ __________



14

Were the alien members of your family on the WRA free list and eligible to relocate at 
the time you sent your letter to the Justice Department asking for forms upon which to 
renounce your citizenship?_________________ ,_______ _______ _________ ____ ___ _____ ______

79. Did you fear that if you didn’t send for the forms and didn’t renounce your citizenship 
that you, nevertheless, would be deported to Japan along with the alien members of your 
family because you had asked for repatriation to Japan and that you would get in trouble
with the Japanese government when you arrived there?__,..___Name the persons who told
you this. ....._______ ..____ .........._______________________......_____

80. Did you decide to apply for forms upon which to renounce your citizenship because you
believed your life was being frittered away uselessly in camp?______ ; that you feared that
you might be confined to camp until the war ended? ....____ ; which might take many
years? --------- or that if the war did not come to an end you would be kept in camp
forever? ---------or that when and if the war ended the Government might deport you to
Japan? and that you wanted to get away from camp life? ..._____ and feared that
you had to go or be sent somewhere or anywhere, even to Japan, just so long as you were 
made a free m an?_____ ...

81. Did you send a letter to the Justice Department asking for the forms upon which to 
renounce because you were afraid that the Government had no use for you and didn’t care 
what happened to you and that you were afraid this was true because it had deprived you 
of citizenship rights by evacuating you and putting you into a WRA Center behind barbed
wires and then had armed troops guard you? ,_____ ; and then didn’t give you any
protection in the Tule Lake Center from the threats and violence of gangs? ; and
because the police didn’t give any protection to the residents? .X ^ L .; and you were scared 
by the soldiers moving in and driving the residents around and searching their quarters ? 
RQ.—  ; and no protection was given against such things as the murder of Mr. Hitomi, the 
knifing of Mr. Terasawa and others, and the clubbing and beatings of many persons ; and 
that the Government didn’t punish the soldier who shot Mr. Okamoto? V /£3  and 

that you thought these things clearly meant the Government had no use for you and didn’t 
want to give you any protection and that, to avoid all this violence and trouble, you 
renounce citizenship to insure your own saMy?^ÏÈ.5..... and the safety of your wife
husband? --------- , father? ---------, mothe/? ______ , cljiidren? ______, brothers?
sisters?---------, other members of your family?

f
82. Did you decide to send the letter asking foh^fofms upon which to renounce your citizenship

because you feared that you were going to be deported to Japan because you had given 
“ N o” answers to Questions Nos. 27 and 28 or had refused to answer those questions and 
were considered disloyal to the U. S. and that it was necessary for you to send that letter 
to the Justice Department and renounce your citizenship otherwise you would get in 
trouble when you arrived in Japan? ^3 3 ... What trouble did you think you would get 
into in Japan if you didn’t renounce U. S. citizenship? THAT TH£ ftEKip£f
■X6i...ÛMî>... .̂QU.C_E.„.lAj.fli^Lp.....VdÆldi...Us... ..........................L m/oüLùa/'t  SB BareprÊiD

State wbat- rnrnihera of  your family told yon this. ■_______
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Name the Issei, Kibei and Nisei who told you this and state in what Blocks they lived at 
Tule Lake and the name of any organizations to which they belonged? ---------------------------

83. Did you fear that if you didn’t send for the forms and renounce your citizenship that you 
eventually might be drafted into our armed forces while you were in the Center and thus
be separated from your citizen wife? ---------; citizen children? --------- ; or other citizen
members of your family? __ who were in the Center?-----------Did you fear that if you
didn’t send for the forms and renounce citizenship that you eventually would be relocated 
and then might be drafted into our armed forces and then be separated from your wife?
hC.Q._ your children?...__ ........ other family members?______who would have relocated with
you? Who told you these things might happen if you didn’t renounce your citizenship?

84. Did you fear that if you didn’t send for the forms and renounce your citizenship that you 
eventually might be drafted into the army while you were in the Center or after you were 
forcibly relocated which would result in separating you from alien members of your family 
who were to be sent to Japan because they had asked for repatriation to Japan and
wanted to go there? l i e ___ or because they believed they would be deported to Japan after
the war ended because they feared the Government intended to deport all alien Japanese to 
Japan?______ Who told you this would happen? ----------------------------------------------------------

85. Did your alien parents fear that if you didn’t send for the forms and renounce your 
citizenship that you eventually might be drafted into the army and be separated from
them when they were sent to Japan?______  Did they tell you this? ---------  Name other
persons who told you this--- ------------......----------------------------------------- -------------------------------

Did your parents fear that if you served in the armed forces that they would get in
trouble with the Japanese Government when they arrived in Japan?---------- Did they tell
you th is?_______ Name other persons who told you this------- -----------------------------------------

86. Did any person or persons or group of persons tell you or spread the rumor that if you 
didn’t send for the form and renounce your citizenship you would get into trouble with
the Japanese government when you were deported to Japan? ---------  Name the persons
who told you these things, the Blocks where they lived and the organizations to which they 
belonged. .....-- --------------- ------------------- --------------------------------------.......--------------- -----------------

87. Name the other members of your family whom you believed would get in trouble there if 
you didn’t renounce your citizenship and state whether they were in the Center with you.

88. If any members of your family were in Japan at the time, did you fear that they might be 
punished by the Japanese government if it learned that you did not renounce your U. S.
citizenship? ____ ..... What members of your family there did you fear might get in such
trouble? ________________________________________________________________ ____________
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89. With what agents of Japan did you think you or your family members would get in trouble 
if you did not renounce your citizenship?—---------------------------------------------- ---------------------

(The Japanese police? „ J 'l...;  K em peitai?--k l....; Army? --------- ; Neighborhood Associa­
tions? ; other agencies?.............................................................................................................. •)
What did you fear would happen to you or to them? £ .& & & .£> .££> .....& $ --------------
'So'ypFcj- f±Nn> 0STRAc.L2J£n.....hX.....M£i$h£a&  ..._______________________

Did you believe that you or they would be put in prison?---------; internment camp?--------- ;
be forced to work as slave laborers ? _____ ; or what else did you fear would happen to you
or to them ?________________—----------------------------------------- ------ -—----------------------------------

90. If anyone else told you to send that letter, name the persons who did and state whether 
they were Issei, Kibei or Nisei and the Blocks in which they lived or where they worked at 
Tule Lake Center.__ _____ ....-------------------- ---------------------------------------------------.----------------

What did they tell you would happen to you if you didn’t send that letter?

Were those persons leaders or members of any of the organizations in Tule Lake, and, if so, 
state the names of the organizations.------------------------------------—........................... ..................

Who were the Issei leaders of those organizations? ....................................................................... .

The Kibei leaders?-------- ~----- ----------------------------------------- ..----------------- -------------------- -----
The Nisei leaders?-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

91. Were any groups of leaders or members of the Seinen Dan or Hoshi Dan moved away to 
Santa Fe before you sent in that letter?--------- If so, what groups?____ ________ ________

Were any groups of leaders or members of the Seinen Dan or Hoshi Dan removed to 
Santa Fe before you sent in that letter?--------- If so, what groups?........................................

(Note. The first group of 70 Issei and citizens belonging to the Hokoku Seinen Dan were 
taken away to Santa Fe on December 27, 1944. Renunciation hearings started on January 
11, 1945. The next group of 144 citizens and 27 aliens, including 50 officers of the Hokoku 
Seinen Dan, was taken to Santa Fe on January 26, 1945. The next group of about 650 
members of the Hokoku Seinen Dan was removed to Bismarck on February 11, 1945. The 
next group of 125 persons was taken to Santa Fe on March 12, 1945. About June, 1945, 
some 400 more were removed to Santa Fe and in July, 1945, a few more were taken to 
Bismarck. - Therefore, if you had your hearing after these groups had been removed you 
were not in fear of them at that time.)

92. Were you in fear that if you didn’t send for the forms and renounce your citizenship that 
your name would be put on the organization’s black-list and would be reported to the 
Japanese government and you would get in trouble with the Japanese government when 
you arrived in Japan? Who told you this would happen?
f t  » T  W bft 3acH _J£.UMQ^:._________________________________________
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Were you in fear of the leaders of any of the organizations at T u le?______ Were you in
fear of the members of any of the organizations?---------  Of what organizations were you
in fe a r ? ____________________________ __________

of what leaders were you in fea r? ________

of what members were you in fe a r ? _________________________

Why were you in fea r? _______________________________________________

Were any other members of your family in fear of them or their organizations and, if so, 
state the names of your family members who were in fear of them ?_________________

93.

94.

95.

If you or any member of your family or any friends were attacked by any of the leaders 
or members of any of the pressure groups for not doing what the pressure group leaders 
wanted state the names of the persons who were attacked, the time and place where attacked 
and by whom. ...M rf i RiseAD<Z& /¿ g

___ / *  n<~r / 9 g : g  m H tsH  m m l

/9  ttosH / - G M  PTtA c/T&O. ' ---- ------- --------------
Were you in fear of being attacked and beaten up by them or their organizations if you did 
not send for the forms and renounce your citizenship? Had any of them threatened
you? What were their names and state what they said to ynn. H/D/= a_______
Mfr5/jg/9 /9 OA Tff/S. U//9/V9Y/9MA ff/9/K? Tol n~7^S
. / ...o/^ BBSyp/r/^ J
Were you in fear that members of your family might be attacked and physically harmed if  
you did not send that letter, and, if so, state what members of your family you feared might 
be harmed by them___________________________________________

96. Were you in fear that if you did not send that letter that you might be harmed by the leaders
or meinbers of any of the following organizations, namely: Hoshi D an?............; Seinen Dan?

Joshi Dan?---------; Manzanar gang? .....kk...; the Poston gang? . . jE L ;  Jerome gang?
---------; San Pedro gang?--------- ; the Tiger gang? ...--------j the Black Dragon Society gang?
---------; or other gangs?--------- ; or strong arm groups?............. Name the leaders, members,
groups or gangs of which you were in fear._______________________

97. While you were in Tule were you ever called an inu?______; a spy?______ ; a stooge? ;
an inform er?---------; a White J a p ? --------- ; a traitor?______ ; kokuzoku?______ ; or other
names?---------, for not doing what the organizations wanted you to do? .............  What names
were you called? 0/V9 fil>Vl5(=£> Mf~ To /3/5* G9/&£A// ^

__A__C/9/U/g£> /9 vV /9 7 p ^/BV£) oB )
B Y  50A4/E o A T V S  S B ///& S -D B A /

Were you m fear of being called such names? What were the names of the persons
who called you such names? ...__________________y£V V  J f t .................
------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------- .......--------------------------------....----------------- ------------------------------------------

o<s
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98. How many persons called on yon or spoke to you and asked you if you had sent for the forms 
upon which to renounce your citizenship ? ........ ....  What were their names ? ..............................

Did anyone check up on your mail in the block manager’s office to see whether or not you had
sent such a letter or had received an answering letter from the Justice Department?...........
State the names of the persons who checked up on you in this manner.........................................

Did anyone take down your name as being a person who did not send such a form or was
late in sending for such a form? ............  State the names of the persons who did this and
whether they were Issei, Kibei or N isei: .—...-......................................................................................

99. Were any members of your family or friends attacked, beaten or threatened for not sending 
for the forms? ............  Name the persons who were attacked or beaten.........................................

Were you ostracized for not sending in such a letter promptly?............  Did friends shun or
avoid you or refuse to talk to you because you had not sent for the form s?............  Was your
spouse?........... ; your children?............ ; or other members of your fam ily?............ mistreated
for your delay in sending such a letter? ................  What mistreatment did they suffer and
from whom ?............... ................................ ...........*................................................................................. —

100. While you were in a WRA Center did the TJ. S. Immigration Service commence any deporta­
tion proceeding against your husband? ..........; wife? .......... ; father? --------; mother? ........ ,
for a violation of any immigration law? Did you fear that the member of your family against 
whom deportation proceedings had been started would be deported from the U. S. to Japan
because such person was illegally in the U. S .? ........ . Did you fear separation from such
person and did the fear that such person would be deported cause you to apply for the forms 
upon which to renounce citizenship so that you would not be separated from such person?

Re: RENUNCIATION HEARING

101. Name the members of your family besides you who had a hearing on an application for
renunciation of citizenship. Husband? ........... ; wife? ....Y.......; brothers? ............ ; sisters?
______; other family members ? ....................-............................................................. ............................

Did you have your hearing before the renunciation of your wife? ; husband?........... ;
brothers ? ........... ; or sisters ? .............  Did you have it on the same day as your wife ? ........... ;
husband?............  On what date did you have your renunciation hearing?Q.O.
Was your hearing officer a m an?........... ; a woman? ....  Did you have an interpreter at
your hearing? .... Did you need one? b io

102. At your renunciation hearing did you tell the hearing officer that you wanted to renounce 
because you were loyal to Japan, or that you wanted Japan to win the war, or that you were 
against the U. S. or make other statements indicating loyalty to Japan or disloyalty to the
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U. S.? JhljEL. What, in substance, did you tell the hearing officer as reasons why jou  wanted
to renounce your citizenship? -2ft£LL—!—  JDU/1L £J_T1ZIElN t£V^
JX^JZ&MollNC.l=:L -QNB._____ i  M A s.-_ j9 s / f E £ > IF - THBKF IMA £  F N y
J&Q£.teU.JOhL___.T«QT_.I«fi&£ r.-iC/flS._________________________________________________
Name the persons who coached you and told you what you were to say at your hearing to 
make certain your renunciation would be approved and state whether they were Issei, Kibei 
or N ise i.___________________________________________

103. Did the hearing officer tell you that you did not have to renounce your citizenship in order
to go to Japan? JsJLGL.... Did you believe th is?---------  Were you in fear of the hearing officer?
Jbi.O__ , W hy?_____________________________________________________________ __________
Did you fear to tell the hearing officer the real reasons why you were renouncing your citizen­
ship ? JiESL. What did you think would happen if you had told him the real reasons? 
3 M llJ !£ £ R ^D A £ /B £ /J2 /y ....Î OUjLn....SB /e ^S B O  /WD THAT i ~H&  H fiN -

M o u rn : ........................ ..................................................... .

104. Did you fear that if you did and your renunciation was not accepted that you would get in
trouble with your parents?---------; other family members?___ _; who were in Tule Lake?
------------- ; or in some other internment camp? _________ __________ _____________ __ Were
you then in fear of being forcibly relocated in a dangerous area? ....____  (If your hearing
took place after the January 29,1945, announcement were you still in fear of eventual reloca­
tion in a hostile area?--------- ) Were you then in fear of being drafted? N O ....  Were you
then in fear of separation from members of your family? M'O___ From what members?

Were they in Tule Lake?---------; or in what other Center?_______________________________ _
Were they on the WRA “ free lis tJJ and eligible for relocation at the tim e?______ Had they
applied for relocation before the day you had your renunciation hearing?___ __  Were they
still expecting to be sent to Japan? ---------  Did they still want to go to Japan?............  Had
they cancelled their applications to go to Japan?.............

105. Were you in fear that if your renunciation was not accepted you would be in danger of harm 
from any of the leaders or members of any of the pressure groups at the time you had your
renunciation hearing?---------  Had the leaders or members been removed to other camps
at the time you had your hearing?............  Were some leaders and members still in camp
at the time you had your hearing? What were the names of those who were still in
camp ?..„. ....... ................... ...........................................................

............................................. .............. ; in your B lock?............... ............. ...................................................
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------- Were you in fear of them?_____

106. Were you removed from Tule Lake Center to Bismarck? ; Santa Fe? K)Q * When?
--------------------------------- ; with what groups: the 1st, 2nd, 3rd or 4th groups?______________
What members of your family remained at Tule Lake?__________________________________

What other members of your family were removed from Tule Lake Center to Bismarck?

to Santa Fe? .When ?
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Were they removed from Tule Lake before you had your renunciation hearing? -.......... or
after you had your hearing at Tule L a k e!______ ____

State when and where you were re-united with them?__________________________ ____

Name the other members of your family who renounced citizenship.

107. Did you give such answers because other members of your family had been removed from
Tule Lake and you thought that by so doing you would be re-united with them ? ........ Did
you fear that those family members would be deported to Japan and that if you gave such 
answers you would be re-united with them and be deported along with them ?.............

108. If you applied for relocation in the U. S. after your renunciation state when you did so.

Re: MITIGATION HEARING

109. Did you have a ‘ ‘mitigation hearing” between December, 1945, and April, 1946? Y e  s .  In
what Center did you have this hearing? JS.E.---------- ---------  Was your hearing
officer a man? a woman?--------- A t this hearing did you tell the hearing officer that
you were loyal to Japan or disloyal to the U. S. or words to such an effect? W*0 ....  If you
did, state why you did this--- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Were the members of your family with you in the same Center at the time of this 
hearing? From what members of your family were you then separated?.......................

Where were those members of your family at the time of your mitigation hearing?

Were they then on the WRA or Justice Department free list and eligible for relocation?
______  Had they relocated?............. If they had, state when.......................... ...............................

Did you then fear that members of your family in other camps were to be deported to
Japan?______  Was it because of your fear that those members were to be deported to Japan
that you gave such answers to the mitigation hearing officer so that you would be allowed to
rejoin those members and not be separated any longer from them ?_______

What members of your family, if any, were removed to other internment camps after 
you had your renunciation hearing?_________________ _______________________________ __

When and where were you re-united with them ?
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When were yon released from detention?........................................................  In what camp
were you when you were released from detention?... .......... ............... If any
of your family members were sent to Japan, state when they sailed for Japan?__________ _
-----------------—  From what port did they sa il? -------------------------------  What other members
of the family accompanied them to Japan? ___________

When were you placed on the “ free lis t” ? ....E.§...6.*_i.5L!)Lfe.___________  If your parents
spouse or other family members were placed on the free list, state when they were placed on
that list and the camp from which they relocated. ..fcl't!...JtdJiEJE....B..I.....THE...5&M£L
JIlM iE ._________________ _____

D ate: . JUNfr....%  )  <7 * ,

/  f *9- So, M &foPosA AI//S.. 
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